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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

NANCY HEAD,

Plaintiff,

VS. Case No. 14-CV-1363-EFM-KMH

OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Nancy Head brought this lauwis against Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC
(“Ocwen”), alleging that Ocwen committed sevesttutory violations while servicing her note
and mortgage. Ocwen has moved to dismigmads Fair Debt Collections Practices Act
(“FDCPA”) count under Federal Rules of Civil leenlure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim.
For the reasons stated below, the Court grangaihand denies in part Defendant’'s Motion to
Dismiss Count Il of Plaitiff's Complaint (Doc. 4).

l. Factual and Procedural Background

Head sets out the following facts and altegss in her complaint. On March 13, 2003,
Head executed a note that was secured by a ngeriga certain real prepty. Initially, Option
One Mortgage serviced the naed mortgage. Sometime theteaf Homeward Residential,

Inc. (“Homeward”) took over servicing ahe note and mortgage.On January 17, 2013,
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Homeward sent Head a letter advising her whs in default under the security agreement’s
terms. Homeward then transferredveging to Ocwen on January 28, 2013.

Less than two months later, Head receivedfitise of a series of letters requesting a set
amount of money that she labelsedther a “past due notice” onb6tice of default.” Ocwen sent
Head these letters on or about March 22, 20Aa; 4, 2013; November 2, 2013; and December
4, 2013. During this period of tem Head continued to make her normal monthly payments.

On June 6, 2013, Head sent a letter tov€@t asking for information about the missed
payments and stating that she never misgg/ment since 2003. Head alleges the June 6, 2013
letter can be treated as a “request for verification of the debt as well as a qualified written
request.* On July 3, 2013, Ocwen acknowledged thatdeived Head's letter and advised that
it would respond under the Real Estate Settlement Procedurés Wotvever, Ocwen never
responded to Head'’s request.

Head alleges that Ocwen repeatedlys maisrepresented the amount due under her
mortgage and “repeatedly [has] contacteet]lin an attempt to collect the deBt.Head further
alleges that Ocwen’s continuedntact with her without verifidion of the debt violates the
FDCPA. Head also alleges that Ocwen has tbneat foreclosure in order to collect the debt
“when foreclosure is not justified.” Head claims that she “has suffered damages due to the

worry and emotional distress” resulting from Ocwen'’s alleged actions.

! Plaintiff's Complaint, Doc. 1, { 26.

2 Plaintiff also brings an individual claim under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (Count | of the
Complaint) that Ocwen’s motion to dismiss does not challenge.

® Plaintiffs Complaint, Doc. 1, { 23.
* Plaintiffs Complaint, Doc. 1, { 24.

® Plaintiff's Complaint, Doc. 1, { 25.



Il. Legal Standard
Under Rule 12(b)(6), a defendant may mdee dismissal of any claim for which the
plaintiff has failed to state aaim upon which relief can be grantédUpon such motion, the
court must decide “whether the complaint contaamough facts to state a claim to relief that is

'™ A claim is facially plausible if ta plaintiff pleads facts sufficient for the

plausible on its face.
court reasonably to infer that the dedant is liable for th alleged misconduét.The plausibility
standard reflects the requirement in Rule 8 fie&dings provide defendants with fair notice of

the nature of claims as welletgrounds on which each claim restséJnder 12(b)(6), the court

must accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint, but need not afford such a
presumption to legal conclusioffs.Viewing the complaint in this manner, the court must decide
whether the plaintiff's allegations giveseé to more than speculative possibilifies.If the
allegations in the complaint are “so general thayy encompass a wide swath of conduct, much

of it innocent, then thelaintiffs ‘have not nudged their ctas across the line from conceivable

to plausible.” *?

® Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

” Ridge at Red Hawk, LLC v. Schneid4®3 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007) (quotBejl Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)ee also Ashcroft v. Iqhd@56 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

8 |gbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citinfwombly 566 U.S. at 556).

° See Robbins v. Oklahon&19 F.3d 1242, 1248 (10th Cir. 2008) (citations omitteel; alsdFed. R. Civ.
P. 8(a)(2).

91gbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

1 See id.(“The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’” but it asks for more than a
sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” (citation omitted)).

2 Robbins 519 F.3d at 1247 (quotifgvombly 566 U.S. at 570).



. Analysis

The FDCPA was enacted to eliminateusive debt collection practicEs.To eliminate
abusive debt collection practices, the FDCPA ratd interactions between consumer debtors
and “debt collectors™ The FDCPA does not “prohibit a detmllector from merely attempting
to collect on a debt. Nor are threats to takgll@ction or to report a bor to credit agencies
actionable, unless the action threatened cannolyidga taken, is not intended to be taken, or
involves the communication of false informatidn.” Head alleges suchiolations. Ocwen
contends that Head’s allegatioae time-barred, that Ocwennst a “debt ctbector” under the
FDCPA, and that Head does mi¢ad sufficient facts to state a plausible claim for réfigfiead
responds that the November 2, 2013 and Deeemb 2013 letters from Ocwen are not time-
barred, that Ocwen is a “debt aattor” under the FDCPA, and ththere are sufficient facts that
would allow a plausible clairfor relief under 88 1692e and 1692g.
A. Head Sufficiently Pleads Discrete Act¥Vithin the Statute of Limitations Period

Although the statute of limitations is an affative defense, it properly may be resolved

on a motion to dismiss “when the dates giverthi@ complaint make clear that the right sued

13 Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rii Kramer & Ulrich, L.P.A, 559 U.S. 573, 577 (2010).
14 Id

5 acey v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLZD14 WL 2885471, at *2 (D. Kan. 2014) (citid¢hayne v. United
States Dep't of Educ915 F. Supp. 1143, 1145 (D. Kan. 1996)).

8 Ocwen also argued in its reply brief that because Head did not respond to certain arguments ¢kt it rais
in its memorandum in support, Head effectively waigaeguments against dismissal on those bases. Ocwen cites
Montoya v. Fin. Fed. Credit, Inc872 F. Supp. 2d 1251 (D.N.M. 2012) for support of its waiver argument.
Montoya however, did not actually apply such a rule. slipporting authority, moreover, recognized waiver under
completely dissimilar circumstanceSee Marlin Oil Corp. v. Luried4l7 F. App’x 740, 744 n.10 (10th Cir. 2011)
(noting that “because Lurie never raigbis argument before the district countits response to Marlin's motion for
summary judgment, we considewaived [on appeal].”).



upon has been extinguished.”* ‘An action to enforce any lkility created by [the FDCPA]
may be brought . . . within one year frahe date on which theiolation occurs.’ *® Due to the
comprehensive scheme of the FDCPA that rmakany debt collectiomaneuvers actionable,
separate debt collection commuriioas concerning a single deddn create separate violations
supporting a cause of actibh.Therefore, for statute of limiians purposes, disete violations

of the FDCPA are analyzed individuaffy. The improper communication must occur within the
limitation period to be actionabfé. A later effect of an earlier time-barred violation is not
actionablé?? If a defendant engagesanseries of prohibited actsfrash violation occurs at the
moment of each aét.

Here, Head filed her complaint on Nonkeer 3, 2014. Head concedes that Ocwen’s
November 2, 2013 and December 4, 2013 letters are the only communications arguably
occurring within the one year preceding thkndg of her complaint. Head also believes
discovery will reveal additional violations beyond Ocwen'’s letters. While the Court agrees that

Ocwen’s November 2, 2013 and December2@]3 letters are within the one-year FDCPA

" Solomon v. HSBC Mortg. Cor895 F. App’x 494, 497 (10th Cir. 2010) (quotiAtgrich v. McCulloch
Props., Inc, 627 F.2d 1036, 1041 n. 4 (10th Cir. 1980)).

18 Johnson v. Ridd|e305 F.3d 1107, 1113 (10th Cir. 2002) (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d)).
1 Solomon395 F. App’x at 497.

2.

2 gee Llewellyn v. Allstate Home Loans, |ifd.1 F.3d 1173, 1189 (10th Cir. 2013).

22 see Solomgn395 F. App’x at 497 n.3 (distinguishing discrete violation from continuing violation
analysis).

2 Craig v. Meyers2009 WL 3418685, at *3-4 (S.D. Ohio Oct. 19, 2009).



limitations period?* the Court considers Head’s speculatimadditional, disoverable violations

irrelevant to this motion to dismié3. As each letter is a discreset that independently could
constitute a violation of the FDCPA, not requg the previous lettern order to state a
sufficient claim, Head may continue her cabat limited only to claims arising from the
November 2, 2013 and December 4, 2013 letters.

While Ocwen argues that the limitationgipd does not restart for new communications
repeating a stale vidian, its support found iMichalak v. LVNV Funding, LLQds misplaced®
The court inMichalak held that dunning letteedlegedly received within the one-year limitations
period would not permit Michalak to raise FDCRRIms based on letters received outside the
one-year period. Specifically, the court rejected Michalakigiraent that the recent dunning
letters constituted a continuingolation and thus restarted thatsite of limitationgperiod with
each new letter, making claims based on the $&#lers actionable. We Head asserting, as
Michalak asserted, a continuing violation thedwychalaKs reasoning might assist this Court’s
determinatiorf” But Michalak did not argue, as Headjaes, that those letters received within
the limitations period qualify as discrete vittms. Moreover, the SiktCircuit later overturned

Michalakto hold, as this Court decides, that eactetattay constitute a separate violation of the

% Though the November 2, 2013 letter appears to fall outside the one-year preceding Head’s November 3,
2014 complaint, the day of the violation is excluded in calculating the running of the statute of limit&ams.
Johnson305 F.3d at 1115 .

% When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the court fimt itself to the four-corners of the complaint.
Casanova v. Ulibarti595 F.3d 1120, 1125 (10th Cir. 2010).

%2014 WL 1775496 (N.D. Ohio Apr. 24, 2014).

271d. at *2 (emphasis added).



FDCPA and so only those lets outside of the one-yedimitation period are barred.
Michalak, therefore, cannot gie this Court.

Ocwen further argues that to be “diseretiolations” that the court must analyze
separately for compliance withe FDCPA'’s limitations period, ¢#hd must plead violations of
separate provisions of the FDCPA, not multiptenmunications that allegedly violate the same
provision. Ocwen citeSolomon v. HSBC Mortgage Corporatiaa support: Solomondirects
that “[flor statute-of-limitation purposes, discret®lations of the FZPA should be analyzed

on an individual basis®

But Solomondoes not define “discrete violations.” So the parties
provide their own interpretation. Ocwen bassspitovision-specific understanding of “discrete
violations” on the fact thaSolomors statute of limitations alysis discusses “kinds of

31 Specifically, Solomors limitations analysisreads the plaintiffs complaint to

violations.
allege violations of three different FDCPA prsians. While Ocwen fairlyestates the court’s
discussion irSolomonit unfairly overlooks the nine casesaththe Tenth Circuit cites to support
its statement that courts must individually analgliscrete violations. A review of these cases
reveals that the Tenth Circuit did not intend “detef’ only to mean “kinds of violations.”

In fact, all of the cited cas discuss repetitious dunningnmounications that allegedly

violated the same FDCPA provisions. @mtiz v. Accounts Receivable Management,, Itie

plaintiff alleged that defendé violated the FDCPA by reptedly calling and leaving a

% Michalak v. LVNV Funding, LL2015 WL 2214792, at *1 (6th Cir. May 12, 2015) (citBolomon 395
F. App’x at 497 n.3).

29395 F. App'x 494.
%01d. at 497.

311d. at 498.



prerecorded voicemail messageeatpting to collect a deBt. The plaintiff conceded, like Head
has done in this suit, that tleewere communications outside tbe limitations period, but still
argued that he should be able totimre his suit on the timely violatiof3. Agreeing with the
plaintiff, the court dismissed the eleven pharadls received outside of the limitations, but
allowed the plaintiff to proceedn FDCPA violations ssociated with the later phone calls that
were received within the statutory perid.

In Purnell v. Arrow Financial Services, LL.Ghe defendant repeatedly reported an
unverified debt to a credit bureau (eleven rhfnteports and one manuadebt confirmation),
each of which plaintiff comtnded individually violated88 1692e and 1692f of the FDCPA
within the statutory perio®f. The court held that the plaiff could continuehis suit based on
the claims that arose from the debt repatsl manual debt confirmation sent within the
limitations period, using the plaintiffs contéon that a violation “occurs with each
representation, communication, collection activity,” constitutinga discrete violation of the
FDCPAZ2® Therefore, each monthly reporting wadliacrete violationof the same FDCPA
provision, refreshing the limitation ped for that individual actiori’

Lastly, in Craig v. Meyersthe plaintiff received a demand letter and other documents

regarding post-judgment collection efforts, sowie which were outside of the limitations

322010 WL 547910, at *1-2 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 12, 2010).
31d. at *2.

#1d. at *1-2.

35303 F. App’x 297, 299-300 (6th Cir. 2008).

% See idat 303-04.

371d. at 301-02.



period®® Similar to Ocwen, the defendant argued that later communications were tied to the
original demand letter, thereby time-barring all allegatidnghe court rejected the defendant’s
argument?® DiscussingPurnell, the court held that even ifriéxtricably linked” to a violation
from a time-barred act, prohibited acts withire thmitations period create timely claims for
discrete violations thaare actionable under the FDCPA. Therefore, the court allowed the
plaintiff to continue on the communicatiotiat occurred within the one year perf3d.

Consistent with the Tenth Circuit'sli@nce on these and other opinionsSiolomon this
Court will not accept Ocwen’s invitation to narrgwinterpret “discrete violations.” Such a
reading would insulate debt collectors frauability for freshly committed misconduct merely
because more than one year earlier they origiddiysed the debtor in the same manner. An act
intended “to eliminate abusive debt collection pras” would be ill-served were this Court to
develop so significant a rule frosuch an underdeveloped discussforStated otherwise, this
Court does not reaBolomonto understand that Congress intendetit collectors to get a free
pass to exploit debtors if, after a year of unchallenged abuse, they commit new abuse in the same
old ways. Therefore, it woulbe inappropriate to dismisseld’s entire complaint under the
statute of limitations. The Cauwill allow Head to proceed onlatlaims that are based on the

timely November 2, 2013 and December 4, 2013 letters.

%8 2009 WL 3418685, at *1-3.
31d. at *4.

4014,

d.

21d.

*315 U.S.C. § 1692(e).



B. Head Sufficiently Pleads That Ocwe is a “Debt Collector” Under the FDCPA

To present a claim under the FDCPA, tblaimant must show that the monetary
obligation in dispute is a “debt” and that theiggncollecting the debt is a “debt collectdf."The
FDCPA defines a “debt collector” as “any perssho uses any instrumeality of interstate
commerce or the mails in any business the graigourpose of which ighe collection of any
debts, or who regularly collects attempts to collect, directly andirectly, debts owed or due or
asserted to be owed or due anotlfarThe FDCPA also creates multiple exceptions for the term
“debt collector.*® An entity that does not own the lobant merely “services” the loan generally
is treated as a feditor” and not sbject to the FDCPA’ A servicing company is subject to the
FDCPA, however, if the loan was in default at the time the servicing company acquired the loan
account® The term “default” is not defined in the FDCPA.Without clarity from Congress,
the determination of whether a debt is in défés to be made by éhcourt on a case-by-case
basis>® Any applicable contractual or regulatory language thahesfa point of default may be

instructive®® But language in a servicingpmpany’s notice that statéisat an entity is a debt

4 Mondonedo v. Sallie Mae In2009 WL 801784, at *3 (D. Kan. Mar. 25, 2008¢e alsdl5 U.S.C. §
1692.

%515 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).

% See id.

*"Mondonedp2009 WL 801784, at *3.
B 1d.

9 “Unfortunately, the FDCPA does not define so key a tasndefault.” . . . [W]ere there is no relevant
contractual provision . . . between the debtor and the creditor nor any governing regulation, couttsidgglesl to
establish when a debt is in default for purposes of . . . determining whether a party is a debt collectbeunde
FDCPA.” Simmons v. Med—I-Claim&007 WL 486879, at *7 (C.D. Ill. Feb. 9, 2007).

0 Church v. Accretive Health, Inc2014 WL 7184340, at *3 (S.D. Ala. Dec. 16, 2014) (quoKagsis V.
Am. Home Mortg. Servicing In@23 F. Supp. 2d 430, 440 (E.D.N.Y. 2013)).

1d.

-10-



collector or is collecting the recipient’'s deist some but not conclus evidence that the
servicing company is a “debt collector” subject to the FDEPA.

Though Ocwen admits that it serviced Headisrtgage, it argues that Head pleads
insufficient facts for this Court to regard Oawas a “debt collector.” Specifically, Ocwen
argues that Head’s complaint dorot support the condion that Head’s debt was in default
when Ocwen took over her account. Head expressly alleges that “Ocwen is a debt cdllector.”
This conclusory statement clearly is inadeqdateBut the Court disagrees that Head fails to
plead adequate facts that show Head’s mortgegein default at thtime Ocwen acquired her
account. Head avers: 1) she borrowed tha sfl $33,600.00 from Omin One Mortgage and
gave a mortgage to Option One for the amaumMarch 13, 2003; 2) saoing was transferred
to Homeward, and she began making her pmaysmto Homeward; 3) on January 17, 2013,
Homeward sent her a letter “advising her she wadefault under the terms and conditions of
the security agreement™4) on January 28, 2013, Homeward $fanred servicing to Ocwen; 5)
after obtaining the servicing ritg) Ocwen sent her a series of letters for unpaid amounts that
were characterized as ‘“mee[s] of default” on Mech 22, 2013 ($1,177.48), May 4, 2013
($1,529.06), November 2, 2013 ($2,201.16), and December 4, 2013 ($1,804.47); and 6) she

continued to make her payments throughieaeiving the “noticeq] of default.”

2 See Maynard v. Cannpd01 F. App’x 389, 395 (10th Cir. 2010).
%3 Plaintiffs Complaint, Doc. 1, { 21.
* See Igbal556 U.S. at 678 (quotinBwombly 550 U.S. at 555).

%5 Plaintiff's Complaint, Doc. 1, { 8.

-11-



On the Complaint’s face, the factual allegas that Head presents (which are accepted
as true under a Rule 12(b)(6) motion) satisfyrhedest Rule 8 pleaaly burden. Through these
stated facts, the Court finds it plausible thantdéavard considered the debt in default under the
terms of the security agreement on Janufy 2013. The Court also makes the reasonable
inference that that the debt remained in diéfatien transferred to Ocwen less than two weeks
later. Head alleges no facts thveduld contradict this reasona&binference, and her allegation
that Ocwen later sent her dtices of default” demandingast due payment supports the
inference. Thus, Head adequately pleaastsf plausibly supporting dh Ocwen is a “debt
collector.”

The Court reaches this conclusion despite Ocwen’s argument that her complaint
specifically does not state that the loan wagl@fault at the time Ocwen received servicing
rights. While it would have been helpful for Heedexplicitly plead that information in her
complaint, the law does not require her to inclegtery relevant fact othe issue of default in
her pleading® Head'’s allegations, though lacking the sfieity that Ocwen desires, do all that
Rule 12(b)(6) requires.

Similarly, this Court’s inference that Ocwen received the debt in default is not
undermined, as Ocwen urges, by Head’s allegatibasshe stayed cemt with her mortgage
payments. First, this Court agrees with thelSCircuit’'s observation that “FDCPA coverage is
not defeated” when “after having emngal in years ofollection activityclaiming a mortgage is

in default [d]lefendants now seek to defeat theotpctions of the FDCPA by relying on

6 SeefFed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(25ee alssTwombly 550 U.S. at 555.

-12-



[p]laintiffs’ position throughout those years ththe mortgage isiot in default’>’ Second, the
parties agree that the law considers a mortgageicer a “debt collector,” despite what the
actual status of the debt is,tifat servicing company was mistaken as to the status of the debt
and treated the accountth®ugh it were in defauf Therefore, if Ocwen mistakenly regarded
Head’s account as being in default and accordingly attempted collection, the § 1692a(6)(F)(iii)
exclusion does not prevent this Court froreating Ocwen as a “debt collector.” Head’s
allegations that Ocwen sent her “notices daffault” demanding specific overdue payments
permit this Court to infer that Ocwen treated thbtaes being in default. Accordingly, dismissal
of Head’s FDCPA claims on this basis is unwarranted.
C. Head Sufficiently Pleads FDCPA Violations

Though Head’s complaint does not state élkact FDCPA provisias Ocwen allegedly
violated, Head'’s responsive Hbrielarifies that her FDCPA clai is based on violations of 8§
1692e and 1692g. Specifically, Head claitimat Ocwen violated the FDCPA by “1)
misrepresenting the amount of the mortgage payments due and the debt owed; 2) failing to
validate the debt when requested by letter on June 6, 2dIRierefore, the Court will address
only whether Head sufficiently pled enough faisbring a plausible claim of relief under 88
1692e and 1692g.

When analyzing claims under the FDCPA, d¢swgenerally apply aobjective standard,

“measured by how the ‘least sogticated consumer’ would irm@ret the notice received from

" Bridge v. Ocwen Fed. Bank, FSE1 F.3d 355, 361 (6th Cir. 2012) (emphasis original).
°® Mondonedp2008 WL 4491409, at *3.

% Plaintiff's Response, Doc. 10, p. 2, 4. Plaintiff later states she is suing under 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e and
1692g.

-13-



the debt collector® The test examines how “the leasphisticated consumer—one not having
the astuteness of a ‘Philadelphia lawyer’ oemethe sophistication of the average, everyday,
common consumer—understands tiice he or she receive%.” However, the hypothetical
consumer “can be presumed to possess a rudimentary amount of information about the world and
a willingness to read a coligon notice with some caré”

1. Section 1692e

Head alleges facts argualdypporting violations of 15 8.C. 88 1692e(2)(A) and (5).
Section 1692e states that it uslawful for a debt collector tbuse any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation . . . in connectioithwhe collection of any debt.” Section
1692e(2)(A) prohibits false repregations as to “the characteagnount, or legal status of any
debt.” Section 1692e(5) séat that it is unlawful for a debt lkector to make ‘tireat[s] to take
any action that cannot legally be taken or thabisintended to be taken.The list of conduct or
practices violating 8 1692e is non-exhaustived @ debt collection pctice can violate the
FDCPA even if it is not nantewithin a specific subsectidf.

a. Section 1692e(2)(A)

Head alleges that Ocwen misrepresentbd amount and character of her debt.

Specifically, Head contends that, despite making her scheduled monthly payments on the debt,

Ocwen sent her numerous notices of default.il&\Head’s complaint doasot state exactly how

0 Ferree v. Marianos1997 WL 687693, at *1 (10th Cir. Nov. 3, 1997) (quotitgssell v. Equifax A.R,S.
74 F.3d 30, 34 (2d Cir. 1996)).

.
®21d. (quotingClomon v. JacksqQr988 F.2d 1314, 1319 (2d Cir. 1993).

83 Caputo v. Prof’| Recovery Servs., In261 F. Supp. 2d 1249, 1255 (D. Kan. 2003).

-14-



Ocwen misrepresented the debt, this is not a requirement under Ruléedd’s complaint does
aver that she regularly paid her mortgage antrstieived numerous noés of default. Head
also avers that she requested informatiamfrOcwen about supposed missed payments, but
received no response. Theast sophisticated consumer that regularly makes her mortgage
payments and then receives notices of deffamanding additional unpaid amounts reasonably
would consider such communicatiaiesbe in error. That consumer reasonably could understand
that the debt collector inappraogiely treated her loan as being in default despite her being
current with payments or, alternatively, thae sk not current with her payments because the
debt collector previously misstt the amounts due. And the debliector’s failure to clarify
the support for its demands on a vakduest would sustain the canser’s concern that the debt
collector has mismanagéid account. These facts allow t@eurt reasonably to conclude that
Ocwen was either misrepresenting the amounstatus of Head's debin violation of §
1692e(2)(A). Further, Ocwen only challenge=ad's § 1692e(2)(A) claim on the above-rejected
basis that it is time-barred. Therefore, the €bods that Head suffieintly pleads a claim under
§ 1692e(2)(A).
b. Section 1692¢e(5)

Head also alleges that “Ocwes threatening foreclosure in effort to collect a debt
when foreclosure is not justified> While a plaintiff does not hv& to plead with specificity,
only plausibility, Head'’s allegation that Ocwen is threatening unjustifiable legal action is merely

conclusory. Section 1692e(5)qgueres that, within the one-yeéimitations period, there be a

% See Igbagl556 U.S. at 678.

% Plaintiffs Complaint, Doc. 1, { 24.

-15-



threat to take action that “cannot legally be takerthat is not intendetb be taken.” Head's
statement that the threat of foreclosure is jostified” omits necessary factual allegations. For
example, Head fails to indicate when she iree Ocwen’s threat, thus preventing the Court
from determining her compliance with the statoftdimitations. FurtherHead’s allegation does
not state how Ocwen’s threat of foreclosure canegally be taken or was not intended to be
taken. Without this information, the Courtnceot determine how “thdeast sophisticated
consumer . . . [would] understandfle notice he or she receive[df.”

For example, irLittle v. Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLiie Tenth Circuit rejected
Little’s § 1692e(5) claint’ Little alleged that ‘filefendant’s agent falsebtated that if the debt
was not paid ‘it will go further.” When askddy [p]laintiff what that meant, [d]efendant’s
collector falsely stated that ‘it will go tétigation’ and ‘we will take you to court.”® Despite
pleading specific facts about thbreatening statements, the Tenth Circuit determined that
Little's pleading was conclusorgnd did not “allege[] any factsupporting an inference that
[defendant]'s threats to litigate were Ibgaroscribed or not made in good faitff.” While
courts are allowed to make all reasonable infazerin the light most favorable to the plaintiff,
they may not accept as true any legal conclusidnslead pleads a legal conclusion even more

factually bare than Little’s rejected pleading. eféfore, the Court conalles that Head fails to

% Ferree 1997 WL 687693, at *1.

7548 F. App’x 514, 516 (10th Cir. 2013).
% 1d.

9d.

O Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (“. . . a plaintiff's obligatida provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to
relief’ requires more than labels and conclusions, and aufaiorecitation of the elements a cause of action will
not do.”) (citation omitted).

-16-



nudge her 1692e(5) claim from conceivable t@uglble and grants Ocwen’s motion to dismiss
as to Head’s 1692¢(5) claim.

2. Section 16929

Head'’s final FDCPA allegation suggestatti®cwen violated § 1692¢g of the FDCPA by
“failling] to verify the debt and [by] cdmul[ing] its contact wth Head without proper
verification of the debt™ Section 1692g requires that “[wlithfive days after the initial
communication with a consumer in connection vifie collection of any debt, a debt collector
shall . . . send the consumer a written notioataining” certain information about the debt,
including the amount of debhd to whom the debt is owéd.If the consumer “notifies the debt
collector in writing within the thiy-day period [after receipt of ¢hnotice] that the debt . . . is
disputed, the debt collector will obtain verificatiohthe debt . . . and@py of such verification

.. will be mailed to theansumer by the debt collectof” If the consumer notifies the debt

collector within the thirty-day period, the detiillector shall cease celttion of the debt until
the debt collector obtains vedfition of the debt and the vediition is mailed to the consuntér.

While Head contends that Ocwen is reqdito give verification under § 1692g, Head
must first have, “within thirty days after receipttbe notice, dispute[d] ¢hvalidity of the debt .

. . [otherwise] the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt colléetdigad alleges that

" Plaintiffs Complaint, Doc. 1, { 27.
215 U.S.C. § 1692g(a).

315 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4).

15 U.S.C. § 1692g(b).

515 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3).
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Ocwen first contacted her in its M 22, 2013 “past due notice” letfér. This event would
trigger the beginning of the thirty-day periodwhich Head had to regst verification of the
debt/” Head alleges that she first respondedOmwen with a June 6, 2013 letter. Even
accepting that Head’s June 6, 2013 letter “disputedvtlidity of the debt,” Head sent that
request outside of theitty-day period. Becausklead does not allegiat she sent another
letter within the thity-day period after theeceipt of Ocwen’s communication, Ocwen is not
required to cease any collection effdftsThus, Head'’s claim th@cwen was required to do so
fails. Ocwen’s motion to dismiss as to the 8§ 1692g claim is hereby granted.
IV.  Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, Head pw@utinue her suit on any well-pleaded claims
that arise from Ocwen’s November 2, 2013 and Dé&egm, 2013 letters. Any claims related to
prior letters are dismissed. Any 88 1692edB)yl 1692g claims are dismissed, and the Court
denies as inadequate Head's one-sentence request for leave to’an@udHead has pled
sufficient facts to consider plausible tHatwen is a “debt collector” under the FDCPA and
therefore liable for Head's well-pled 8 1692¢£) violation of the FDCPA. The Court’s
decision in this Order that Heatlequately pleads that Ocwen,'debt collector,” violated §
1692e(2)(A) should not be understood to mtkeat the Court accepts that Ocwerfact acted as

a “debt collector” and violated the FDCPA. i# still Head's burde to provide adequate

’® Plaintiffs Complaint, Doc. 1, 1 10.

"Seel5 U.S.C. § 1692g(bMcCammon v. Bibler, Newman & Reynolds, PSA5 F. Supp. 2d 1220, 1225
(D. Kan. 2007).

8 Seel5 U.S.C. § 1692¢g(b).
¥ See In re Gold Res. Corp. Sec. Ljti§j76 F.3d 1103, 1118-19 (10th Cir. 2015) (holding that plaintiff's

request for leave to amend was insiéfnt when it contained “only one sentence at the very end of his brief
alternatively requesting leave to amend in the event the district court should decide to dismiss his complaint.”).
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evidence to support this conclusion. Here, tloar€merely decides thdhe facts in Head'’s
complaint make such a conclusion plausible.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Count Il of
Plaintiff's Complaint (Doc. 4) iISsGRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART .
Defendant’s motion to dismiss GRANTED as to the claims brought pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 88
1692e(5) and 1692g. In regards to all other claims, the mot@BENSED .

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 14th day of July, 2015.

ERIC F. MELGREN
UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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